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1. Name of Property

historic name

Smith, E. L., Building

other names/site number

2. Location

street & number 213-215 Qak Street

N ka | not for publication

city, town Hood River

state code OR county  yood River

Qre gon

code 77 zip code 9731

3. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property

% private % building(s)
public-local district

[] public-State [Isite

[] public-Federal [ structure
D object

Name of related multiple property listing:

N/A

Number of Resources within Property

Contributing Noncontributing
1 buildings
sites
structures
objects
1 0 Total

Number of contributing resources previously
listed in the National Register ___N/A

4. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended, | hereby certify that this
nomination [ request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the
National Register of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60.

In my opinion, the property X ] meets/l_ldoes not megt the National Register criteria. (I see continuation sheet.
April 23, 1991
Signature of certifying official - Date

Oregon State Historic Preservation Office

State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property Dmeets [ Idoes not meet the National Register criteria. [ see continuation sheet.

Signature of commenting or other official

Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

5. National Park Service Certification

copodl_Tn tYa

entered in the National Register.

l%uareby, certify that this property is:
D See continuation sheet.

Rptionad Roglaier
0: /% /? /

[__]determined eligible for the National
Register. D See continuation sheet.

i 7@4@%@‘

[] determined not eligible for the
National Register.

[Iremoved from the National Register.

[Jother, (explain:)

/

Signature of the Keeper

Date of Action



6. Function or Use

Historic Functions (enter categories from instructions)
Commerce/Trade: financial institution

Comrerce/Trade: specialty store

Current Functions (enter categories from instructions)
Commerce/Trade: financial institution

Commerce/Trade: bus iness, professional

Health Care: clinic

Domestic: multiple dwelling

Commerce/Trade: specialty store

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(enter categories from instructions)

Late 19th and Early 20th Century

American Movements: Commercial Style

Materials (enter categories from instructions)

foundation ___concrete

walls brick
stucco
roof asphalt
other cornice: wood

Describe present and historic physical appearance.

[X] See continuation sheet
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ONE: SUMMARY

The E.L. Smith Building was built to be used as a commercial and a residential building by
a prominent Hood River pioneer, Ezra Leonard Smith. The first floor had two spaces, the corner
and the center store. The corner space housed the First National Bank, of which E.L. Smith was
the vice-president. The building was originally known as the First National Bank Building,
however, when the present First National Bank Building was built in 1910, the E.L. Smith
Building name came into common use. The center store was a grocery store owned by J.E. Rand,
and the upstairs rooms were both aparments and professional offices (both medical and law),
Room 1 serving as E.L. Smith's office until his death in 1921.

The basic organization of the E.L. Smith building's exterior reflects the 20th Century
American Commercial movement as seen in the strong examples of horizontal and vertical elements
of the two public facades and in the window proportions (see Photo 6). Secondarily, the
decorative wood sculptured corbel courses on the front and west side facades and subtle pilasters
connect a dramatic cornice line with recessed brick facia giving examples of a vernacular motif (see
Photos 13-15). The oriel windows, which still-exist on the west side elevation add a Victorian
flavor to the upstairs apartments (see Photos 11-15). The combination of Victorian residential and
early 20th Century commercial styles effect a warmth uncommon in downtown commercial district
buildings. There is an historic addition to the south side of the building, in which is currently

- housed the law firm of Jaques and Phillips.

The E.L. Smith Building was constructed in the fall of 1904 by Frederick and Arnold
Contractors. The original bid was set at $8,500.00, and the total cost of the building was
$10,000.00. The architect was Oscar L. Stranahan, another pioneer of Hood River, and a good
friend of Mr. Smith's. The brick was provided by the A.T. Zeek Co., and the gravel from the
excavation was used to "pave" all of the streets of the downtown area. The gravel and labor was
provided as a service to Hood River by Mr. Smith. The building was completed by the 15th of
October, and the J.E. Rand Store (see exhibit #6) and the First National Bank were first open for
business on October 27th, 1904.

The general condition of the building is excellent. The foundation is sturdy, the walls and
floors sound. There has been no noticeable settling. The building has not been moved or
substantially altered, although minor modifications have occurred throughout the building's life.
The two story building has had minor historic exterior changes to strorefront door and window
openings. The changes that have been made are subtle and the architectural integrity of the brick
facia windows remain in their original condition. Storefront signage was added on the surface of
the brick facia; alterations, however, if necessary, are reversible.
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The original, first floor center store is now occupied by Hood River Stationers. The corner
store is now occupied by Freedom Federal Savings and Loan. Jaques and Phillips law offices
occupy the south portion of the first floor, half in the historic addition. The second floor offices
and apartments remain empty at this time. The rear section of the second floor (upstairs of the
historic addition) is used by the Law office for legal records storage.

TWO: SITE

The E.L. Smith building is located on the southeast corner of the intersection of Oak and
Third Streets (213-215 Oak Street, T3N R10E S25, Map #3N 1025DC, Tax Lot 4300) in Hood
River, Oregon. This intersection currently lies in the heart of the financial district of town, flush
with the public right-of-way, which is the former path of the Historic Columbia Gorge Scenic
Highway (U.S. 30). The building rests among several other historically significant buildings of
the same era, such as, the Paris Fair Building (1906), the Keir Building (1905), and the Hall
Building (1909), which served as the central commercial district for turn-of-the-century Hood
River. The Eliot Building (1909), and the First National Bank Building (1910) complete a trilogy
of financial institution buildings on three of the four corners of Third and Oak Streets. The city of
Hood River, Oregon is located in the basin of the Columbia River Gorge, accessed by Interstate 84
running east and west paralleling the Columbia River, and reachable by Oregon Highway 35
running north and south through the Cascades.

THREE: BASIC SHAPE AND DIMENSIONS, NUMBER OF STORIES

The E.L. Smith Building is a two story rectangular brick structure, measuring 50 feet wide
along Oak Street, by 100 feet long along Third Street. The ground floor level is consistent for 75
feet and steps up to accommodate the rise in elevation on the south side. The sidewalk on the north
side (Oak Street) of the building slopes slightly upward to the west, and escalates more
dramatically on Third Street to the south. There is a basement under the south side of the building
measuring 50 by 49 feet. The second floor is approximately 14 feet above the retail floor and the
roof deck is about 16 feet above the second floor. The height of the roof increases by around 5
feet to the south to accommodate the incline of Third Street.

FOUR: BASIC STRUCTURAL DETAILS

The perimeter wall foundations of the E.L. Smith building are a cast-in-place concrete as is
the basement. The interior foundation system consists of four rows of concrete pier blocks,
resting on the basement floor, with wood joists up the floor structure. The foundation and support
systems for the first and second floor are assessed to be in excellent condition.
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The walls of the building are constructed of a layered building brick supporting interior
walls of wood framing and lathe and sand plaster. The second floor remains in its original state
with skylights, oriel windows, wood decor, wainscoat and door jambs. The flooring is fir which
has never been finished and is in excellent condition. The floor joists are on 12 inch centers for
longevity. The original plans for the building cannot be located, so other supporting
documentation is not available. The interior of the retail and public space is plastered and exposed
brick wall. The exterior of the building is brick with accented inlayed brickset over all windows.

FIVE: SALIENT FEATURES OF THE EXTERIOR

The front facade of the building is faced primarily with brown colored brick, with lighter
brown wood window panes and trim. There are brick arches over all windows, and a stone lintel
over the center store's entrance. There is decorative inlayed brickwork effectively dividing the two
commercial spaces and the windows above visually, just under the corbelling. Decorative corbel
courses span the cornice, and run the perimeter of the second story. The corbel line is of
handcrafted wood; gothic style with leafset engraving. Full height corner pilasters drive skyward
into the cornice decorated with bold supporting horizontal brackets (see Photo 16). This facade is
divided into distinct sections marked by arched window lines. The second story front facia shows
evidence of oriel windows that were removed around 1935 for unknown reasons. However,
despite this alteration, the original arched brick windows on all three details remain unscathed. The

- original windows, one-over-one, double hung with wood sashes, were retained and placed in the
same positions when the oriels were removed. The oriel windows on the west facia remain in their
original condition. The exterior brick is in good condition and the building's original coloration
remains unchanged.

SIX: SUBSEQUENT ADDITIONS

Prior to 1910 there was an addition to the E.L. Smith building on the south facia. The
structure is similar to the construction of the original Smith building in most respects, however it is
lacking most of the detail evident on the original Smith building. This addition currently houses
half of the Jaques and Phillips law firm, the upstairs providing storage for the firm. The upstairs
storage area accesses the residential rooms in the original structure through a passageway in the
brick firewall. The Smith addition historically provided a second entrance and storage to the

grocery store in the center rooms. Since 1910 it has been divided into commercial space and used
as law offices.

SEVEN: SALIENT FEATURES OF THE INTERIOR
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The first floor of the building has been adapted to the current commercial uses
abovementioned. Distinctive decoration is minimal as utility and function are the priority in these
commercial spaces. Some exposed brick walls are noted in the law office for their aesthetic
qualities (see Photos 24-25).

The second floor of this building features 12 foot expanded ceilings, generous room sizes
and skylights throughout most of the twelve rooms (see Photo 22). There is an abundance of
distinctive trim in its original excellent condition, and the use of elaborate detail work on the doors
and hallways is prevalent (see Photos 19-21). Almost all of the upstairs doors have the original
decorative transoms and crowns in perfect condition. The oriel windows give the interior of two
rooms an expansive demeanor and contribute to a feeling of aloofness from the busy district of
commerce below. The original fir floors and wood trim give an overall warm Victorian feel to the
rooms. - Historic photographs provide evidence that there has been little or no change in the
condition of the upper floor. Trim, floors, and decor all have remained the same over the years.

-~ From the front facia window a view of the Columbia River is unobstructed by any other buildings,
and the west facing windows offer a beautiful view of the mountains and sunset.

EIGHT: ORIGINAL INTERNAL SPATIAL ORGANIZATION AND ALTERATIONS

The spatial organization of the E.L. Smith Building's interior has remained the same

- throughout the building's existence. All the original room divisions and walls remain in good
condition on both the first and second floors. The only alteration to the interior was the removal of
the three north facing oriel windows. These windows were removed in approximately 1935, for
unknown reasons. However, the large rooms with the windows installed in the oriels' stead still
retain the airy atmosphere once accomplished by the oriel windows. The commercial uses of the
first floor metamorphosed from a bank and a grocery store, to the public library, to a restaurant,
back to a bank (current), and now a stationery store where the original grocery store was. Upstairs
housed both doctors' and lawyers' offices, as well as some of their residences. The use of the

upstairs remained the same until around 1950. The upstairs space is currently unoccupied, yet in
its original state.

The E.L. Smith- Building is a distinctive and historically significant cultural resource.
Architecturally, it retains both character and old world charm. Its integrity gravitates with the
association of the development of our community's vitality and livelyhood. As the third oldest

commercial building in Hood River, it fortes the efforts and accomplishments of Hood River's
governing fathers. -



8. Statement of Significance
Certifying official has considered the significance of this property in relation to other properties:

[Inationally [ statewide locally

Applicable National Register Criteria [XJA [ |B [X]c []D

Criteria Considerations (Exceptions) [ JA [ |8 [ ]Jc [ Ip [Je [JFr e

Areas of Significance (enter categories from instructions) Period of Significance Significant Dates
Architecture 1904 1904
Commerce _ 1904-1921
Health/Medicine 1904-1921 —1904-1906
Social History 1904-1921

Cultural Affiliation

Significant Person Architect/Builder

N/A Stranaha 0 I hi

Frederick & Arnold, Contractors

State significance of property, and justify criteria, criteria considerations, and areas and periods of significance noted above.

See continuation sheet



9. Major Bibliographical References

See continuation sheet
Previous documentation on file (NPS):

I:]preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) Primary location of additional data:
has been requested ; . E] State historic preservation office
L__]previously listed in the National Register [_]other State agency
Dpreviously determined eligible by the National Register [_IFederal agency
Ddesignated a National Historic Landmark [JLocal government
[ Irecorded by Historic American Buildings ] University
Survey # [_]other
[Jrecorded by Historic American Engineering Specify repository:
Record #

10. Geographical Data
Acreage of property ___0.11 acres  Hood River, Oregon-Washington  1:24000

UTM References
A 1ol lel1islgizi0] (5100612151601 Bl ) Ll v bbb by
Zone  Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing

clo Ll Loy bbby Ly (o 30 I O I O R I IO I

D See continuation sheet

Verbal Boundary Description

The nominated area is located in SW4% SE% Section 25, Township 3N, Range 10E, Willamette
Meridian, in Hood River, Hood River County, Oregon. It is legally described as Lot

4, Block E, First West Addition, and is otherwise identified as Tax Lot 4300 at said
location.

[ ]see continuation sheet

Boundary Justification

This boundary is equal to the footrpint of the historic building and is the lot
purchasedby E. L. Smith in 1904 for the purpose of constructing the building.

l:] See continuation sheet

11. Form Prepared By

nameltitle Kimberly Quirk, Darin Gardner
organization N/A date December 1, 1990
street & number __PO Box 1444 telephone (H03) 386-5572

city or town Hood River state Oregon zip code 97031
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The two-story Commercial-style building of brick masonry that
occupies the southeast corner of the intersection of Oak and Third
Streets in downtown Hood River, Oregon was built in 1904 for a
public-spirited businessman, Ezra L. Smith, one of the town's
incorporators and its leading early upbuilder. The design was
provided by 1local architect Oscar Stranahan. It is 1locally
significant as a distinctive commercial building, the third oldest
of its type in the Hood River County seat, and a property long
associated with noteworthy professional services. The Smith
Building meets National Register Criteria A and C in the categories
of architecture, commerce, medicine and social history.

The building measures 50 x 125-feet in ground plan and presents it
major frontage upslope, along Third Street, to include a plainly,
but compatibly-finished historic addition of 25 feet at the south
end. Exterior elevations are organized informally, with the
structural division of two longitudinal ground story spaces marked
on the principal, Oak Street facade by a continuous pilaster strip
that meets a corbelled string course at the building's entablature.
Corner pilasters, on the other hand, extend to the top of the wall,
where a thin wood cornice is supported by acanthus leaf modillions.
Where the cornice projects additionally over corner pilasters at
the building front, it is supported by carved console brackets.
The frieze is decorated with a delicate raised garland motif.

The building's primary visual interest is derived from generous
window openings with segmental arch heads that are finished with
radiating brick voussoirs and fitted with paired, double-hung wood
sash on the side street elevation and three-part Chicago-School
assemblies on the front. In about 1935 the three oriel windows of
the upper Oak Street facade were removed, and the window assemblies
re-installed in the openings. Upper story oriels remain in place
on the secondary facade, in the southernmost two bays of the
original volume. Ground story store fronts on both elevations have
been altered as the commercial spaces have been adapted for new
uses. The building's ground story interior has been
comprehensively remodeled. However, on the second story, offices
and living units are well-preserved, arranged round a central,
longitudinal circulation corridor, which retains its original fir
flooring, vertical tongue and groove wainscot, plaster walls and
ceiling, door casings, and transomed, multi-paneled doors. Offices
and apartment spaces display complete historic finishes, including
entablature window surrounds, picture moldings and plain mop
boards.
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Upon its opening in 1904, the building was better known as the
First National Bank. The bank formed by E. L. Smith and his
brother-in-law, F. S. Stanley, occupied the ground story space at
the street corner until a new bank was built nearby in 1910. The
successive commercial and professional occupants of the building
were dominated by the medical and legal fields and included an
early female physician and surgeon, Dr. Mary Johnson, who was an
inspiration to the pathfinding nurse/abortionist Ruth Barnett, who
resided with her family in the building as a young girl. In
addition to its colorful history overall, a major association is
that of the investor, E. L. Smith. Smith maintained his office in
the building to the time of his death in 1921, and it was from this
quarter that he pursued innumerable projects and activities for the
benefit of the city.

Ezra L. Smith (1837-1921), a native of Vermont, came to the West
Coast in 1861, immediately following his marriage, and became a
miner in California. He served in the California Legislature
briefly before settling in Olympia, Washington in 1867. During the
nine years he spent in Olympia, he was Secretary and once the
Acting Governor of Washington Territory. As a territorial officer,
he carried out responsibility for the boundary survey between
Washington and Idaho to the Canadian border. It was in Olympia
that Smith first entered the banking business. He relocated to
Oregon's Hood River Valley in 1876 to take up farming. Over the
years, Smith helped pioneer the local orchard industry and was
instrumental in formation of rural school, 1library and park
developments. He was one of the incorporators of the town of Hood
River and served as its first mayor. He also served in the Oregon
Legislature. The grounds of the Smith residence, at Smith's
direction, became a park for the public library after his death.
Because Smith's residence still stands, the commercial building is
not being nominated under Criterion B.
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ONE: INTRODUCTION

The E.L. Smith Building is one of the most notable buildings in the city of Hood River for
both architectural and historical reasons. Built in 1904 for the Honorable Ezra L. Smith, the Smith
Building is the third oldest commercial structure in Hood River, and is a fine example of early 20th
Century commercial architecture combined with an early Victorian residential style of architecture.
It is the only commercial building in Hood River to include both the architectural features of
Victorian apartments upstairs (including oriel windows on the elevations), and the classic
commercial bank building style popular in the late 19th and early 20th centuries.

The Smith Building is a prominent two story brown brick building located on the corner of
- Third and Oak Streets in Hood River, Oregon. Itis placed in the center of the main commercial
and financial district of Hood River, and lies on the original path of the Columbia Gorge Scenic
Highway (U.S. 30). Throughout the history of the building, its associations with the events and
lives of very colorful historic figures have earned it a prestigious reputation. The first and
foremost individual to be mentioned is E.L. Smith, pioneer of Hood River, and citizen
extraordinaire. Mr. Smith came to Hood River in 1876, bringing with him the experience of
having served on both the California and Oregon legislatures, and was the Secretary of State and
acting Governor of the Washington Territory. During his residence in Hood River, Mr. Smith
earned himself the titles "Mr. Hood River", "Hood River's Grand Old Man", and "Hood River"
Smith, by completely dedicating himself to the development of Hood River.

When the E.L. Smith building was erected, it had two downstairs commercial spaces and a
series of offices and apartments upstairs. The First National Bank and the J.E. Rand Grocery
Store were the first occupants of the downstairs, and the upstairs served as the offices of two
doctors and a dentist. Ore of the doctors, Mrs. Mary Johnson, Physician and Surgeon, practiced
in the building between 1904 and 1906, and was one of the first female doctors of her time. Other
early occupants of the building include Ruth Bamett, abortionist who practiced between the years
of 1920 until her death in 1969, and Mr. Harry Gross, Jewish immigrant from Russia, who built
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his cash and carry grocery store from nothing and earned himself the title of "Hood River's First
Millionaire" in the 1920's.

The cultural history surrounding the E.L. Smith building is extremely rich and instrumental
in the development of the Hood River city proper and valley. There are many stories surrounding
the building, both the personal histories of the occupants, and the use of the building itself.
Another such notable event in the history of the E.L. Smith Building was its use as the Hood River
Public Library for three years until the construction of the new library could be accomplished.

The nominated building is eligible under the National Register Criteria A and C, for the
notable architecture, events connected with the building, and its association with citizens prominent
in the development of the culture of Hood River.

TWO: EZRA LEONARD SMITH (1837-1921)

Settling in the valley in 1876, Ezra Leonard Smith (see Photos 2-5) was one of the first
settlers of the Hood River area. Mr. Smith was extremely active in governmental affairs and
claims much of the responsibility for the development of Hood River. His interest and knowledge
in politics, culture, education, and horticulture helped him to enrich and develop the Hood River
community earning him recognition as "Hood River's Grand Old Man"! and " Mr. Hood
River."2 To others he was known as "Hood River" Smith or simply "Governor", due to his
service as Governor of the Washington Territory.3

Mr. Smith, the only son of Ezra Smith and Avis Barker Smith, was born at Craftsburg,
Orleans Co., Vermont, on the 17th of September 1837. After the death of his mother in 1847 and
of his father in 1849 Ezra Smith lived under the guardianship of Lyndal French at Glover,

Vermont, where he attended first the public school and later the Orleans Liberal Institute, of which
Professor Isaac A. Parker was principal.

In 1858, Professor Parker was appointed Professor of Ancient languages at Lombard
College, located at Galesburg, Illinois. In company with Professor Parker young Smith went to
Galesburg and entered Lombard College in the fall of 1858. There he met Georgiana Slocum also
a student of Lombard. A three year college association of Ezra Smith and Georgiana Slocum

1Hood River Historical Society, History of Hood River County, Vol. II, p. 121.
2Ruth Guppy, Interview, November 16, 1990.

3Guppy, Ruth, "Over the Picket Fence", Hood River News, Nov. 30, 1967.
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eventuated in their marriage on March 4, 1861, at Woodstock, Illinois. Immediately after their
marriage Mr. and Mrs. Smith went to New York City, where they took passage for California, via
the Isthmus of Panama. After forty days of travel, they reached San Francisco and proceeded to
Georgetown, Eldorado County, California, where they made their first home in April, 1861. It
was in California that, as a miner, Mr. Smith began the active part he always took in public
affairs.4 ‘

Associating himself with the political party of Lincoln, he was elected to and served
through the California legislature of 1864 and 1865, and was a proud member of the joint special

committee which took the initial step for the organization of the University of California.’

Mr. Smith, in 1867, took his family to Olympia, Washington, where he had been
appointed to serve as Secretary of Washington Territory (and for a time, was the acting governor

of the Washington Territory). The family resided at Olympia for nine years.% It was during this
time, about 1872, that Mr. Smith met George P. Crowell. Mr. Crowell had applied for a job as
chainman on Mr. Smith's crew. Mr. Crowell surprised Mr. Smith with his diligent work and
became one of Mr. Smith's most prized workers. The following story illustrates the friendship
which was established between the two men, leading to the eventual business arrangement of Mr.
Crowell running Mr. Smith's grocery store later in Hood River:

"One of Mr. Smith's surveys began at Lewiston, Idaho, extended north to the British line,
locating the boundary between Idaho and Washington. They were delayed in getting started,
disappointed [because they could get no help] from the Indians, their provisions, with the
exception of flour, were running low, winter was fast approaching and their course lay through the
high altitudes of the Rocky Mountains. The men became dissatisfied and talked of mutiny.

"To go back for more supplies meant financial ruin for Mr. Smith, as he would be unable
to complete his survey in the specified time; in this dilemma he called a meeting and asked for the
support of his men in putting the survey through.

"The manner in which the matter was decided is told in verse by Mr. Smith and is herewith

inserted:
"Dedicated to George P. Crowell by E.L. Smith
4Coon, History of the Early Pioneer Families of Hood River, OR, p. 183.
Sibid.

61bid, p. 182.
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Boundary Survey

"Sisters and brothers please listen to me
To a story of eighteen seventy three
To how we ran the boundary survey
In the mountains north of Pend'O'Reille
Where the Clearwater River joins the Snake,
Firmly we planted the initial stake.
Then climbed the bluff to the upland plain
Which stretches north to the river Spokane,
And there alas, we said goodbye
To prairies fair and summer sky.

"Through forests and swamps our course now lay
And autumn had come with a shortened day;
So we hastened, ever on towards the Polar Star,
Nor rivers, nor mountains, could our strong hearts bar.
Never man toiled harder, and all went well
Till we came to the land of Kalispell,
To the land of the Indian renegade,
Who laughs at the laws by white man made.
Where Nature is savage as well as man,
And who travels there takes life in hand.

"Higher and higher the mountains rose,
Colder and colder the North wind blows,
Still we toil on toward the British line,
For our goal is latitude forty nine.
August, September, October had passed
November had come with a winter blast;
But a chill more dread o'er our spirits grew,
Just as we passed Lake Kaniksu,
For no food was left but a little flour,
To give us strength in that trying hour.

"And fear seized hold of the strongest men
And they talked of their homes, again and again
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And some said "further we must not go
Through the awful mountains of Idaho".
And they hung their heads when the leader said
"Men, you have followed where I have led,
For the British Line will you still try?"
And a single voice answered Aye, Aye, Aye, Aye.
And then spake another, brave Crowell
"I'l follow him, boys, to the brink of hell.
He has more at stake than we single men
A family and home." And they cried out, "Amen".

"That line was reached by the half starved band,
And the stoutest heart was the little man
Who, when danger and death were drawing nigh,

Still cheerily sang out Aye, Aye, Aye, Aye."’

Mr. Crowell in effect became E.L. Smith's right hand man. Later, in 1881, Mr. Crowell
came to Hood River and found employment as a clerk in Mr. Smith's Grocery store. When Mr.
Smith sold out, Mr. Crowell invested his earnings in the saw mill business, but unfortunately, the

- business did not work out. Therefore he went back to clerking, and a few years later bought the
stock of A.S. Blowers, and went on to be a successful businessman.8

The business of banking, in which Mr. Smith was engaged after completing his term as
Territorial Secretary, proved detrimental to his health so by the advice of his physicians he moved
to Hood River, where he purchased a farm which had its north boundary near Cascade Street
(U.S. 30) and its south on Belmont Road and included the present site of the Frankton School.
Just west of where the Frankton school house now stands was the first Hood River home of Mr.
and Mrs. Smith. Here they brought their family of five daughters on March 1, 1876.

The first permanent settlers in the Hood River valley were the Nathaniel Coe family who
filed a donation land claim in 1854 on land now included in the City of Hood River. The William
Jenkins family and Denson family were soon also to file donation land claims. Thus began the
settlement of the Hood River valley. The first school was built in 1863. In 1867 a road from The
Dalles to the Hood River community was completed. In 1875, a group known as the Pacific
Colony migrated to the area. By 1880, there were 17 families living in the valley, the Smith family

TCoon, History of the Early Pioneer Families of Hood River. OR., p. 335-336.
81bid, p. 336.
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being the thirteenth family to settle there.?

Shortly after arriving in Hood River, Mr. Smith established a general merchandise store, at
what is now the junction of the Belmont and Frankton Streets. In 1882 this store was moved to
the newly located town of Hood River and for many years was under the able management of
George P. Crowell.10

In 1879, the first school building in Hood River was becoming very dilapidated and school
funds were not available to provide a new one, so the Educational Association was formed with
stockholders contributing. E.L.Smith was one of the heaviest stockholders. The new building

was erected on land donated by Mr. Smith, and he became one of the three school directors. 1

In 1880, Mr. Smith was the leader of the expedition which set out to find Lost Lake. The
following account tells of how Lost Lake was named: ,

", . .It was expected that there would be no difficulty in locating the lake, but when they
traveled to the spot where it was supposed to be, and it was not there, some queries arose and one
man said, "We must be lost". "Oh, no," said Mr. Smith, "We are not lost, we know exactly where
we are, it is like the Indian, he was not lost it was the wigwam that was lost. We are not lost, it is

_the lake that is lost." They then pushed on a little further south and there lay the lake before them
~ like a beautiful mirror, reflecting the evergreen forests surrounding it like a frame with old Mt.

Hood in the background. The name given in jest has remained and it is still Lost Lake."12

Except for the few years, 1883 to 1886, during which time Mr. Smith served as registrar of
the land office at The Dalles, the family had made their continuous home in Hood River. It was

during the residence at The Dalles, November 1883, that George and Roy Slocum, orphaned sons
of Mrs. Smith's brother, became members of this family.

In 1886, Mr. Smith built his family home on the block at 6th and State streets (see Exhibit

#1). Much of this land was later donated by Mr. Smith for the construction of the new Hood River
Library and Public Park (see below).

Mr. Smith, always active in local government affairs, has several times been honored by

9Hood River County Chamber of Commerce, "Historical Sketch of Hood River County".

10Coon, History of the Early Pioneer Families of Hood River, OR., p. 182.
11]bid, "Early Events," p.11-12.

121pid, p. 20.
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the Electorate of his state. In 1889, while representing Wasco County in the Legislature, he was
elected speaker of the house; and again in the presidential campaign of 1896, he was chosen a
member of the electoral college which cast the state vote for President McKinley.

The Hood River Townsite Company was incorporated in February of 1890, of which E.L.

Smith was one of the primary incorporaters.!3 The townsite of Hood River was platted in 1881,
but not incorporated until 1894. At this time, Mr. Smith and the Company donated some land on
the northeast corner of 3rd and Oak to the Hood River Glacier, the newly formed newspaper (see
Exhibit #2). The first Hood River newspaper was published in 1889 by George Prathor. Mr.
Smith became the first Mayor of the newly incorporated city and held that position until 1893.

Mr. Smith started the first commercial orchard shortly after 1876, and was largely
responsible for the booming success of the fruit industry in this valleyl4 (See Exhibit #3). He
was the President of the State Board of Horticulture (1905) and his intuition and advice led to the
development of the Hood River Fruit Growers' Union of 1893 (the predecessor of all cooperatives
in the Pacific Northwest), the Hood River Apple Growers Union of 1903, and finally, to the

organization of the Apple Growers' Association of 1913. Soon after he was elected president of
the Northwest Fruit Grower's Association.

) In 1904, Mr. Smith's new brick bank building was built (see Exhibit #4)15. The building
served as Mr. Smith's office until his death in 1921. The building was bid at $8,500.00 by
Frederick and Arnold Contractors, due to be completed by the first of October. The actual cost of
the building was $10,000, completed on the 15th of October and ready for business on the 27th of
October. It was in the comer of this building that Mr. Smith and his brother-in-law, F.S. Stanley
established the First National Bank!6, of which Mr. Smith was the vice-president (1904-
1909)17, Until 1910, when the new First National Bank Building was built, the E.L.Smith
Building was known as the First National Bank Building (see Exhibit #5). In the center store was
the new grocery store owned by Mr. J.E. Rand (see Exhibit #6). This was the first of a series of
grocery stores which occupied the center store until Mr. Harry Gross's Cash and Carry store gave
a new meaning to success in groceries (see Harry Gross story to follow).

A true supporter of cultural arts, Mr. Smith answered the call when an organization set

Bibid, p. 45.

14Commercial Club, Hood River, 1908.

15Hood River Glacier, May 5, 1904, October 27, 1904.

16Hood River National Historic District Nomination, Heritage Associates, 1988.
17Hood River Glacier, "First National Bank" advertisements, 1904-1909.
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forth to begin a library in Hood River. Mr. Smith donated the space in his building for the
temporary library in 1911. It remained there until March 16th 1914, when the new library building
opened. Mr. Smith donated the land on which the library was built (the land adjacent to his
residence), and addressed the community as the guest speaker at the laying of the cornerstone of
the new building on October 10, 1913 (see Exhibit #7). It was Mr. Smith's wish that when he
died, the remainder of the land surrounding his house be donated to the library as a public park.
After his death in 1921, his children complied with his wish and the new park was dedicated to
Mrs. Smith in 1955.18

Among his other notable accomplishments, Mr. Smith was one of the founders and first
president of the Home Telephone Company, was a stockholder in The Valley Improvement
Company, was a member of the Royal Arch Masons #27, was the Historian of the Hood River
County Historical Society and Museum (see Exhibit #8), and in November 1902, Mr. Smith

presented the First Unitarian Society of Hood River a lot on State and Ninth for the new church
(see Exhibit #9).

The following poem was composed by Mr. Smith and recited by him on his eighty-first
birthday at the Pioneer's annual reunion September 17, 1918.

"Where Rolls the Oregon"

O come! and let us go
Where garnered waters of an empire flow
Through chasm dark and deep and vast,
Cut in the eons of the past,
A channel of divine decree,
From Eastern plain to Western sea. -

On yonder height now let us stand,
And look abroad on wonder-land;

See those broad volcanic cones,
Which lift their heads to frigid zones,

While lesser heights in forest green
Add wondrous beauty to the scene.

See the sunlights, as they play .
18Hood River Historical Society, History of Hood River County, Vol. I, p. 120-121.
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From early dawn to close of day,
With changing hues for every hour
On tree and shrub and blooming flower.

Look westward, a mountain chain
Some mighty force hath rent in twain;

Through this rift a river glides
To mingle with old ocian's tides,

And to this place from every land
Shall ever come a pilgrim band.

Amazed, they look, and then exclaim,
"God's wonderland! Blest be His name!"

The Romans built the Appian Way
To lead their conquering legions o'er;

They built for war, which we abhor,
We built for Him whom we adore.

Praise be to those who wrought,
And praise to those who planned,
Who graded down the rocky cliffs,
And all their canyons spanned,
That all the world might view
_ The glories of Columbia's land."19

This portion of the minutes from the Pioneers' Meeting of 1918 are comments following
the poetry reading, and the consequent standing ovation:

"The love that the pioneers of Hood River county display, for the valley's Grand Old Man
is truly touching. There is scarcely an early family of the now famed fruit valley that does not
remember the day that Mr. Smith assisted them at a time of great need, either financially or by the
cheering spirit of his encouragement.

"The younger generation was privileged to learn of some of these noble traits at Monday's
meeting and tears welled in the eyes of many. Telling of some of the early day experiences, Mr.
Odell said: "I am telling you this today for the first time I have ever made it public. It is one of
those things we hold sacred, not to be spoken of often." In his response Mr. Smith recited the
poem telling of the angel Abou Ben Ahmed, and declared that it was his wish that he, too, would

19From the minutes of the Hood River Pioneers, September 17, 1918.
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be recorded as loving his fellow man."20

Mr. E.L. Smith died in his home on January 22, 1921, at the age of 84, a well
accomplished, exemplary citizen (see exhibit #10).

THREE: THE E.L. SMITH BUILDING:

Downtown Hood River has a high concentration of historic resources dating from 1893 to
the 1930's. The downtown buildings reflect the prosperity of the fruit industry after the turn of the
century both in the commercial and the warehouse buildings. The larger commercial buildings are
located along Oak Street extending from Front Street to the east and Fifth Street to the west. The
majority of these buildings have had alterations to the first story storefront, but the upper stories
remain intact retaining the historic scale and feeling of the prosperous downtown financial district.
The buildings north of Oak Street along Cascade Street are a mix of smaller scale commercial
buildings and service oriented or warehouse buildings. The buildings south of Oak Street on State

Street from Front to Sixth Streets are a combination of public and residential buildings, and smaller
scale commercial buildings.

The earliest commercial building in the downtown area was the Paris Fair Annex (311
Oak), built in 1893. Other buildings built during the peak of the fruit industry era were the
Masonic Temple, 1901 (212 Second Street; the Davidson Building, 1905 (214 Cascade Street); the
Keir Building, 1905 (209-211 Oak Street); the 1.O.O.F. Building, 1906 (315 Oak Street), the Hall
Building, 1909 (201-201 OQak Street); the Eliot Building, 1909 (116 Qak Street); the Mount Hood
Hotel Annex, 1910 (104-108 Oak Street); the First National Bank Building, 1910 (304 Oak Street,
see Photo # 21); the Sprout Building, 1911 (112 Oak Street); and the Yasui Brothers Mercantile
Building, ca. 1915 (12 Oak Street). The E.L. Smith Building (1904) is located at 213-215 Oak
Street and is the third oldest commercial building in Hood River. The public buildings in the
downtown area are the Post Office, the City Hall, the Court House, and the County Library.
These buildings span in date from 1913 to 1954. The railroad depot is located just north of
Cascade Street at Second Street. The close proximity of the depot to the downtown area denotes

the importance of transportation to the commercial and fruit industries of early Hood River.2!

201bid,

21Heritage Associates, The Hood River National Historic District Nomination, 1988, "Downtown
Observations".
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The E.L. Smith Building itself is a two-story brick structure, built in the classic 20th
Century commercial style of architecture. Decorative features include stone lintel, brick arches
over windows, projecting cornice with decorative brackets, corbelling under cornice, oriel
windows on west side. The striking Victorian flavor to the architecture on the elevation, and in the
interior decor add an unusual aspect to the otherwise utilitarian commercial style. This is the only
building of its type in Hood River, and the Victorian elements give the downtown streetscape a
feeling of warmth. There are two other bank buildings in the downtown area, the U.S. Bank
Building (301 Oak Street) which is a striking building of Egyptian architecture, and the First

National Bank Building which is a typical early 20th Century Commercial style structure (see
Photo #21/25).

The organization of the Smith building's exterior reflects the 20th Century American
Commercial movement exemplified by the strong horizontal and vertical elements of the public
fagades, and in the window proportions (see Photos #6 and #7/25). Secondarily, the decorative
wood sculptured corbel courses on the front and west side fagades and subtle pilasters connect a
dramatic cornice line with recessed brick facia giving examples of a vernacular motif (see Photos
#13-16/25).

The front fagade of the building is faced primarily with brown colored brick, with lighter
brown wood window panes and trim. There are brick arches over all windows, and a stone lintel
over the center store's entrance. There is decorative inlayed brickwork effectively dividing the two

' commercial spaces and the windows above visually, just under the corbelling. Decorative corbel
courses span the cornice, and run the perimeter of the second story. The corbel line is of
handcrafted wbod; gothic style with leafset engraving. Full height comer pilasters drive skyward
into the cornice decorated with bold supporting horizontal brackets (see Photo #16/25). This
fagade is divided into distinct sections marked by arched window lines. The oriel windows on the
west side remain in their original condition. The exterior brick is in good condmon and the
building's original coloration remains unchanged.

The oriel windows, which still exist on the west side elevation add a Victorian flavor to the
upstairs apartments (see Photos #11-15/25). The interior upstairs was designed with a decided
Victorian influence. The present undisturbed condition of the interior is nearly identical to its
original condition except for the thick layer of dust from being unoccupied for nearly fifty years.
All the original fir flooring is intact and undamaged. The floors have been covered with a layer of
linoleum, however no adhesive was used in its application. Approximately 90% of the interior
trim remains in its original condition with its original stain (please compare Photos #3 and #21/25).
The entire upstairs retains the original "5-panel"” wood doors with windows and transoms above,
topped with crowns (see Photos #17 and #18/25). The windows are also crowned (Photo
#21/25). Lining all upstairs rooms is decorative trim on upper walls and baseboards (see Photos
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#3, #17, and #21/25), and the hallways boast the original fir wainscoat in excellent condition (see
Photos #18 and #23/25). The 12-foot vaulted ceilings, abundant skylights and large windows give
a bright, spacious feel to the rooms. Six out of ten of the rooms have large skylights (two more
could be reopened), and there are three more in the hallway. The two rooms on the west side with
the oriel windows maintain a lovely Victorian charm. The window seats are the original fir as is
the floor, and the rooms are very large, spacious, and bright. The interiors of the oriels are amply
trimmed, as are the rest of the windows. The overall feel of the upstairs is a comfortable aloofness
from the busy district of commerce below. It is just this combination of commercial utilitarianism
of the lower level and the distinctive Victorian flavor to the upper level which gives the Smith

building its particular charm and appeal. No other buildng in Hood River can offer that
combination.

Three oriel windows from the north elevation of the Smith Building were removed (ca.
1935), the bulkheads were altered to the Roman brick (no date established), and there have been
some storefront window alterations (prior to 1930). Most of the alterations were accomplished
during the early '30's, and the building maintains its original architectural integrity. The storefront
alterations occurred prior to 1930 (see Photograph #1/25, where alterations have already taken
place). The<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>